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Coventry’s History to 1751 to 2000 
St Mary's Revelation 

There are many cities world wide that can boast some influence in linking the friendship of American President John F Kennedy and the former German Chancellor Willy Brandt. Except one can go better...

Not only linking the two statesmen but, connecting them directly to the excavation of an ancient Cathedral, the grave of an unknown, possibly high status 14th century skeleton and a view of the Apocalypse. That city is Coventry .

The area of all this intrigue is a locality that has been a religious site for almost a thousand years. Recently it has been under an archaeological TV eye watched by millions as parts of its vague chronicled history are literally exposed.

The links that would ultimately engage these two political diplomats with Coventry began during the early years of the sixties when the world sat teetering on the edge of fear and the atomic unknown.

President John F Kennedy was embroiled in the Cuban missile crisis; locking horns with his Russian counterparts as the world looked on anxiously wringing its hands for a peaceful outcome. 

Willy Brandt on the other hand as Mayor of West Berlin, was himself deeply involved in his own emergency -the Berlin crisis.

John F Kennedy was assassinated on November 22nd 1963 at the age of 46. Stunned like the rest of the world, Willy Brandt said of him, “a flame went out for all those who had hoped for a just peace and a better life.” 

Out of that lasting respect and compassion he had for the man, Willy Brandt visited Coventry in 1965 to officially open a hostel named the J F Kennedy Centre.

The J F Kennedy Centre was an affiliation between Coventry Cathedral and the Coventry Youth Service, primarily aimed at developing international understanding and friendship.

Thirty five years on this building known as JFK House would prove to be central to the unlocking of Coventry’s medieval annals through The Phoenix Initiative - which is Coventry City’s Millennium Project to regenerate parts of the centre of Coventry.

It was almost a 1000 years ago that St Osburga founded a nunnery at Coventry. 

The 1016 sacking of St Osburga’s by the Danes led to the funding of Coventry’s Benedictine Cathedral and Priory of St Mary founded on 4th October 1043 AD by Leofric Earl of Mercia and Godiva his wife. 

This evolved into a 13th century Prior Church and was a place of visitation and pilgrimage for it was said that St Mary’s contained numerous religious remnants, relics such as a fragment of the True Cross and even an arm belonging to St Augustus of Hippo.

However, in the 1530’s under King Henry VIII’s dissolution of monasteries both the Cathedral and its associated priory were destroyed.

This was an unusual act in itself; as churches connected to monasteries were not normally levelled. It was the people of Coventry’s refusal to accept an offer from the King for them to meet the cost of the Cathedral’s purchase and its upkeep that sounded the death knell for St Mary’s. 

As King Henry VIII had a special objection to Benedictines; he had no reservations in making his point and demolishing St Mary’s, leaving the Red Coventry sandstone ruins to be forgotten and utilised something like a quarry .

Only in 1999 did the true golden opportunity materialise to allow a modem day investigation of the Priory, for as the millennium approached, Coventry - like many other cities -looked for a fresh new future vision, a reinvention of itself.

The Phoenix Initiative was an enterprise to open to view the Cathedral Quarter and its treasure of religious heritage. 

More than that, it would herald the demolition of large areas for the redevelopment of public space, creating an appealing sweep down from the Cathedral Quarter to other areas of interest including the renowned Museum of British Transport.

In order to gain access to the remnants and artefacts of St Mary’s, radical changes were required. Some; like the removal of an 18/19th century burial ground that covered part of the proposed dig location, needed to be handled sensitively but also intelligently as many were buried through previous interments.

It was Northampton Archaeology that worked the clearance of the old cemetery and over 1700 articulated skeletons were uncovered; not including the dislocated and fragmented remains. 

All these were painstakingly removed and catalogued before being re-interred with ceremony at a mass grave at the city’s London Road cemetery .

Finally, the fIrst stage of this exciting project of the city’s self discovery was ready to start.

During the following months the excavation site became a unique site of antiquity. Both BBC 2’s Meet the Ancestors and Channel 4’s Time Team have made visits to Coventry to record programmes. 

Initially, when Time Team were invited, they set about in their usual fashion. Using electrical imaging from geophysical survey and strategically placing four trenches to explore and investigate under their own three day brief.

Trench 1 was dug on the site of the old Charter House were the administration and organisation of the monastery would have been centred. 

Trench 2 was over St Mary’s itself and saw one team member ‘Mick the Dig’ Worthington being the first person in almost 500 years to stand on one of St Mary’s plaster floors with a solid green medieval tile still set into the floor. 

Trenches 3 and 4 revealed the positions of two central crossing piers, bearers of the main Cathedral tower and roof. An archaeologist member of the Time Team said “this was the most important Cathedral site to be uncovered in the past 40-odd years.”

Because of the tantalising discovery of an intriguing stone-lined coffm cut into a floor at the base of Trench 1 late into the last day, it was decided that the Time Team would break their three day rule to add a further fourth day to investigate this fmd. 

This was necessary as a building was planned to be erected on the site when work was fmished. So as the bulk of the Time Team vacated the site, a camera crew stayed back to record Time Team’s member Caroline Barker -one of the teams diggers, and Coventry archaeologist Paul Thompson fmishing exposing of the skeleton.

Twenty months on sees the Time Team return for a very rare revisit. In view of the stunning success of the first visit and the unprecedented nature of fmds the Time Team felt compelled to take up where they left off.

The news on the stone coffin and contents are still something of an unknown quantity. 

While it’s accepted that this man may very well have been a Prior or high ranking official he still has no identity. Forensic science on the bones have shown him to have been middle aged, over weight and probably diabetic. Sadly no more is known at this stage.

Since the Time Team departure, the former Christian hostel of JFK House has been demolished as part of the Phoenix Initiative. Previous Time Team trenches have been extended and excavated by local archaeologists from the Herbert Art Gallery and Museum working for Coventry City Council.

After being smothered by rubble for centuries, new discoveries of what has lain beneath and in the vicinity of JFK House have yielded tremendous quantities of fmds; with two and a half thousand examples of stained glass, all to be catalogued and seven hundred pieces of carved stone.

With the soil and rubble meticulously emptied, these excavations have continued and those involved have been amazed by the preservation and detail found within. 

Finds beyond everyone’s greatest expectations have been forthcoming, including the delight of a joined section of 14th century tiled floor. 

The undercrofts or cellars of the monastery are an amazing marvel, complete doorways passing out onto narrow slabbed paving that comes complete with carved drainage gullies.

Shortly before Christmas 2000 and an early present arrived.

In the Chapter House excavations, a large very special chunk of stone was discovered adorned with medieval art. 

Said to be only the second of its kind in the country and possibly superior to the first, it was a monastic painting of St John the Divine viewing the Apocalypse.

There are few English monumental murals surviving and the only other of the same period is in the Chapter House at Westminster Abbey. 

With guilding of an exceptional quality it is truly an astonishing find and a fitting epilogue to Coventry’s medieval unveiling to date and the closing of a circle.

During the era of John F Kennedy and Willy Brandt in the early 1960’s, the world of recent memory came close to witnessing and perhaps experiencing an apocalyptic end itself.

How strangely ironic then that these two men with whom the links of this chain of archaeological detective work started; should ultimately end with a 14th century historical perspective of the same.

Birth of the car industry

The foundation of the British motor industry began in London on April 17 1896, when Harry Lawson, inventor and entrepreneur, held the first extraordinary meeting of the British Motor Syndicate.

Lawson spent thousands of pounds of investors' money buying up all the patents he could to try to take control of the production of the motor vehicle in England.

He searched for a site to begin car production and came to Coventry knowing the city was full of artisans who had gained their experience from the watch trade, the cycle trade and the sewing machine business. In Drapers Field, Radford, he found an old cotton mill which in recent years suffered from a fire. Here, he decided, would be the birthplace of the British motor car. He would call it 'Motor Mills'.

In these gold rush days of the motor car millions of pounds changed hands as businessmen, inventors, investors and enthusiasts fought to bring the wonder of the 'autocar' to horse dorninated England. Money was to be made and the likes of Harry Lawson aimed to make it.

Dubious In November 1896 the Red Flag Act was abolished and cars were made for the first time able to travel on the open road above four mph and without a man with a red flag preceding them. The dropping of the act was celebrated with the 'Emancipation Run' to London.

Lawson took part, using vehicles imported from France and Germany, nations who were well ahead of England in the advancement of the motor vehicle.

The first appearance of an auto car in Coventry was in May 1896 when Frenchman Amould Bollee's petroleum-driven tri-car was driven down Hertford Street and along the Kenilworth Road.

Boulee was brought to Coventry for the demonstration by members of the British Motor Syndicate, Harry Lawson, Henry Sturmey and B Van Praagh. Rights to the building of this vehicle in England were purchased by Lawson for the syndicate and were to be produced by the Great Horseless Carriage Company at Motor Mills.

Motor Mills was also occupied by the Daimler Company and E.J. Pennington, a dubious American who made many claims, made lots of money, did nothing and finally fled back to America where, it was claimed, he was buried in a dollar grave.

These early days of the motor car generally get no mention in most publications regarding the history of the motor car in England, as they are confusing times. What appears to have happened is that the British Motor Syndicate, through Lawson, tried to control the production of the motor vehicle and their factory , Motor Mills, contained the Great. Horseless Carriage Company Oater re-named the Motor Manufacturing Company) and the Daimler Company, both owned by the syndicate.

It is usually claimed that the Daimler Company produced the first vehicle and the Great Horseless Carriage Company produced none. This is not true. It is known that in the summer of 1897, Major General Montgomery of Winchester ordered a Daimler car and thus became the first person in the United Kingdom to own a British-built motor car.

At this time the Daimler Company was already delayed in their production process as the Major was given the first car which was meant for Henry Sturmey to use on a proving run from Lands End to John O Groats. Sturmey's car was not finally finished until the late summer and the run finally took place in October 1897.

This run forever put the Daimler name as the first British car, but there is another contender, for if we are to believe the manager of the Great Horseless Carriage Company, they produced the first cars, beating Daimler.

The evidence is put forward by Francis E.Baron, now a forgotten name to many but well known in his own time -his face graced Ogden's cigarette cards and he acquired the nickname 'Captain Kettle'. Baron worked for many years on steam haulage and traction engines and wrote in 1944 that "Those experiences were of the greatest value to me in designing and building the first Light Locomotives called Motor Cars!!"

As works manager of the G.H.C.C., Baron appeared to have firstly been involved in the production of French Bollee autocars, which were leaving the factory in 1896, nearly a year before the Daimler completed its first vehicle.

This was verified by the obituary of W.J.Maude which appeared in the Midland Daily Telegraph on May 6, 1929. It reads:

Mr Maude was most probably the first private owner of a motor vehicle in Coventry, and amongst the half dozen in Warwickshire having purchased a Bo from the Great Horseless Carriage Company in 1896.

In another letter in the Midland Daily Telegraph, dated February 8th 1946, W.S. Taylor of Coventry writes: I know that the Great Horseless Carriage Company got off the mark before the Daimler, and I will remember seeing Mr George Iden, the manage1, trying out their first car in the drive in front of the main building.

To reinforce this point, back in 1928 in the Evening News (August 9) Francis Baron wrote from his cottage in Barton-in-the-Clay in Bedfordshire :

In 1897, at the Motor Mills, Coventry, I built the first "petrol” motor cars in England for the

Great Horseless Carriage Company Limited. I supplied one to Lord lveagh for the use of King

George (then the Duke of York). In that year, Mr Oliver Stanton, then cycle instructor to the Prince of Wales (later Edward VII), was sent from Sandringham to Coventry to investigate the use of cars by other members of the cars by other members of the Royal family.

The car used by the future king (George V, then Duke of York), who became Prince of Wales on the ascension of his father, after the death of his elder brother), Baron states, was completed in May/June 1897 and was photographed with Baron at its tiller in July 1897 outside the works.

If Baron is right then this vehicle, which is always assumed to be a Daimler built car, was the first British-built and designed motor car produced by the Great Horseless Carriage Company.

It was later called the Iveagh Phaeton and Baron stated that "several hundred cars were made from that car" and when the G.H.C.C. changed its name they were sold as Motor

Manufacturing Company Iveagh Phaetons.

The Duke/Kings car, Baron states in Autocar 1935, "was one of the first dozen built by me, as works manager...I contend that the car I have mentioned, which worked continuously without the slightest hitch – and being the first petrol car built in England - contributed as much to the present motor industry as George Stephenson's first locomotive to railway development."

Baron himself drove a French Panchard (no 119) which was the winner of the Paris to Madrid Race. He states that this car "I personally used until I built Cars; also German-Daimler, Dion Bouton and Leon Bollee, three-wheelers. "

The Great Horseless Carriage Company became the Motor Manufacturing Company in the spring of 1898 and continued producing cars, as did the Daimler Company.

Motor Mills itself within a few years became the works solely of the surviving Daimler Company. Francis Baron left Coventry and became the managing director of the Motor Haulage Company in the north of England.

There he produced the first motor-powered GPO vehicles. Baron later sold the company, but remained a shareholding managing director.

His friend, James Critchley, (a name familiar to most motor historians), former works manager of the Daimler, became Director of the company.

Critchley is remembered because of his Daimler connection and the fact that he was the winner of the Thousand Miles Trial (in which Baron also took part). Critchley also drove the first Daimler to the top of Worcestershire Beacon in 1897. On this record-breaking event Baron accompanied his friend and can be seen in the photograph recording the run.

Francis Baron died in 1947 in Hertfordshire and was remembered by one friend as "a charming host, a grand man, with individuality ideas and a wonderfully accurate memory".

George Eliot - a name to be reckoned with 

Mary Ann Evans, alias George Eliot, is considered by many as England's second greatest novelist after Charles Dickens.

With renewed worldwide interest in her work, new television, dramas and new stage plays, Eliot is once more a name to be reckoned with in the world of modern literature.

I contest that if Mary Ann Evans had not come to Coventry, the great works which she is now noted for would never have been written. No doubt she would have married into a suitable family and lived the life of a middle class Victorian lady. Mary Ann Evans was born near Nuneaton; George Eliot was born in Coventry.

Mary Ann Evans was born on a winter's morning in 1819 at Arbury Farm (later called South Farm) on the Arbury Hall Estate, Chilvers Coton, near Nuneaton. When she was four months old, the family moved to Griff House, Arbury, and here she spent many of her younger years playing with her brother Issac. It is this part of her childhood she later recalled in The Mill on the Floss. Mary Ann based all her stories on memories of people and places she had known.

After a varied education, at the age of 13 quiet and sensitive Mary Ann was, if you'll excuse the pun, sent to Coventry . Here she was to spend the final, important three years of her education at the school of the Franklin sisters at the end of Warwick Row. The building, later called Nantglyn, still exists and is now an estate agents.

The Franklin sisters, Mary and Rebecca, were the daughters of the Rev Francis Franklin, minister of the Cow Lane Baptist Chapel. He was a notable figure in Coventry at the same time and would, like many others, find his way into Mary Ann's stories.

His daughter, Rebecca, the dominant sister, had spent her final years of education in Paris and had acquired fashionable Parisian manners. She was considered the perfect gentlewoman, a figure that so greatly impressed Mary Ann that she modelled herself, her mannerism, stance, voice tone on Rebecca Franklin. The Coventry influence had begun.

Mary Ann, a bright, intelligent girl, but shy and withdrawn became one of the Franklin's favourites and when guests visited the school Mary Ann would be called to entertain them on the piano, a thing she hated so much that afterwards she would, in the privacy of her room, be reduced to tears.

Here at the Franklin school for young gentlewomen Mary Ann appears to have written her first known work, an essay, which was re-discovered in a Wiltshire bookshop in 1943, entitled Affection and Conceit.

This, of course, was only a schoolgirl essay -Mary Ann at this point had no thought of becoming a writer. She had too many other things on her mind such as the state of the world.

During her previous years Mary Ann had boarded at Mrs Wallington's boarding school in Nuneaton. Here she was greatly influenced in religious matters by Miss Maria Lewis, who was a staunch evangelist.

These religious beliefs were greatly reinforced by the Baptist Franklins. Mary Ann was certainly the type of person to be shaped by others nd this shaping began to show s she grew more and more eligious, so much so that it as becoming obsessive.

This obsession took on the form of a strong belief in saintly virtues and that the world was full of sin. These thoughts totalIy encompassed her mind and her world became based on the bible and helping others.

At this point, one could see Mary Ann growing into a typical Victorian clergyman's wife.

Things were, however, to change for in 1835 her mother was taken ill, grew worse and Mary Ann was summoned home to nurse her. In February the following year she died and Mary Ann continued at home looking after her father, who brought in tutors from Coventry.

She constantly kept in touch with the Franklins, visiting them and they visiting her. Her religious fervour was as strong as ever and she constantly preached at her brother Issac, who she considered sinful, and at anyone else who would listen. For her the world was sinful.

In June 1841, Issac was married and Robert Evans, her father, decided that the time had come for him to retire. He left Griff House in the hands of Issac and moved to Coventry.

The house, later called Bird Grove, was a large semi detached building, embellished with Corinthian columns. It stood back in large tree-lined grounds off the Foleshill Road. Foleshill was then, a peaceful semi-rural place, with a scattering of desirable residences overlooking the meadows. Bird Grove still exists in George Eliot Road, swallowed up in the present sprawl of the district.

Here in Coventry, Robert Evans no doubt too looked towards Mary Ann meeting new acquaintances, possibly leading to marriage, for now she had reached the great age of 21. Mary Ann's world was about to change, for next door lived Mr and Mrs Abijah Pears. Pears was a ribbon manufacturer and his wife, Elizabeth, was the sister of Mr Charles

Bray, ribbon manufacturer, philosopher, reformer, writer and free-thinker.

The Pears decided to introduce the highly intelligent and intense Mary Ann to the Brays and in one fell swoop changed her whole life. The Brays lived at Rosehill, a charming house on Barrs Hill, now the site of the Coventry Coachmakers Club.

In its wooded grounds stood Ivy Cottage, a beautiful ivy-covered cottage which was used as a guest house. Rosehill needed room for guests for there were many, including William Makepeace Thackery who wrote part of the Newcombes here.

Mary Ann was introduced into this hot-bed of intellect and immediately formed a close friendship with Caroline Bray, usually called Cara. She fell in awe of Charles Bray, for she had never met anyone quite like him. One might say she fell in love with him.

One of Mary Ann's main topics of conversation was religion. Charles had been religious but decided he could no longer follow the faith.

Mary Ann began to find that her obsessive beliefs were being slowly chipped away. One day she met Cara's brother, Charles Hemmell, who had also stopped being a practising Christian and the fruit of his inner fight was a book called The Origins of Christianity. Mary Ann was lent a copy of the work and began to seriously doubt her own beliefs.

Suddenly she announced to her father that she could no longer attend church. Robert Evans, who was plate-bearer not only at Holy Trinity Church but also St Peter's, Foleshill, was horrified. He told her she could no longer see the Brays for they were a bad influence and that she would have to leave Coventry. Mary Ann refused to change her stance, and he finally sent her in disgrace back to Issac at Griff House.

Her exile lasted but four months with a constant flow of friends trying unsuccessfully to change her mind.

Finally, Issac's wife, Sarah, visited Coventry and persuaded Robert to take Mary Ann back. Mary Ann insisted that she would still attend church for her father's sake, but would think her own thoughts through the service. Robert Evans agreed and Mary Ann returned to Coventry.

On her return, Mary Ann headed straight back to Rosehill where she would spend much of her time over the following nine years. Her confidence continued to grow as she talked for hours with the Brays, the Hennells and a continuous stream of intellectuals and writers.

At the end of 1843 Mary Ann accompanied the Brays to a wedding in London where she met Dr Robert Brabant, who invited her to stay with him and his blind wife at their home in Devizes. Mary Ann agreed and described this visit as heaven.

She soon found herself becoming obsessed with the doctor. As he was a married man and 40 years her senior, this situation became an embarrassment and Mary Ann was asked by his sister to leave and she returned to Coventry.

The Rosehill set had fed Mary Ann's love of books and introduced her to the actual world of writing. Through them Mary Ann was commissioned to do a translation of 'Das Leben ]esu' from its original German. This took her two years and earned her the grand total of twenty pounds. In 1846 Charles Bray purchased the Coventry Herald and convinced Mary Ann to write essays and reviews in his paper.

This work, although not bearing her name, was her first original work to be published. The male pseudonym of George Eliot had not yet come into existence, but at this moment the writer, George Eliot, was born.

Robert Evans died in 1849, leaving Mary Ann devastated and with a yearly income of £90, Mary Ann had to seriously consider her future.

The Brays took her with them to the continent, then left her with some friends in Geneva until spring.

On her return to England Mary Ann returned straight to Rosehill, where John Chapman, the publisher of her Leben Jesu, visited her and asked her to write an article about it for the Westminster Review. This she did and delivered it personally to his office in London, then promptly got romantically involved, although he was a married man:

After a few more incidents and a few more visits to Rosehill, Mary Ann, now calling herself Marian, left for London never again to return to Coventry (as far as we know).

She did, however, over the years that followed, keep in touch with her Coventry friends. Charles Bray's fortunes later changed and he was forced to move from Rosehill into the smaller Ivy Cottage, then after his death Cam, with even lesser means, moved into Radford Tenace. When times were difficult, Marian put writing work her way to help her out.

Meanwhile, in London, Marian Evans, under the pen-name George Eliot, began to produce such well known works as Middlemarch (based on Coventry) and Adam Bede. She became very popular, was paid very well for her work and bought herself a large house, where she lived unmarried, scandalising society with George Henry Lewes.

It is said that Marian Evans chose the pen name George Eliot because George was Lewes's first name and Eliot was easy to pronounce and remember. I prefer to think that this was yet another memory of George Eliot of Foleshill, a ribbon manufacturer who was declared bankrupt in July 1831. As most of her acquaintances in her Birdgrove/Rosehill days were involved in this trade, maybe, just maybe, Mary Ann Evans knew George Eliot and later remembered him.

What is certain is the influence her time in Coventry had on the mind and personal development of Mary Ann. It shaped her into the person that she became. If she had not lived in Coventry and met the Brays, Mary Ann Evans would have undoubtedly lived on anonymous and obsessively religious life.

War closes in on city 

During the closing week of July 1914 the British public became more than aware that war was getting closer.

On the last day of the month notices were placed in the press and in the streets commanding all soldiers and sailors on leave to return to their barracks. 

Early the following morning Coventry station was full of men who left on steam trains which had been specially laid on.

It was Coventry holiday fortnight and crowds left the city to head for the coast. The 7th Battalion Royal Warwickshire Territorial, based in Coventry Barracks in Smithford Street, also climbed aboard trains, not to war but to their annual camp at Rhyl. 

Life carried on as normal, bands played in Nauls Mill Park, but in the background the nation waited anxiously as the diplomats dealt with the growing threat from Germany.

Negotiations broke down and England delivered its final ultimatum to Germany. People, fearing the worst, returned from their holidays as did the Warwicks who were sent to a camp at Weymouth. 

Knowing that war was imminent, Coventry's Colonel, William Wyley of the Charterhouse, called for the formation of a second battalion and men responded quickly.

There was much excitement among the young men of the city as war became imminent. The adventure was about to begin, or so many thought. War was declared on August 4 1914 and returning officers were sent to the city and a centre was set up at the Masonic Hall into which thousands poured.

In total over the war years Coventry gave 35,000 of its sons to the war. In those early days many young men lied about their age because they wanted to escape their humdrum lives, become soldiers and give the Hun a kick up the breeches.

One such young man was my own grandfather, Walter Ernest McGrory, of Court 3, House 18, Hill Street. He enlisted aged 16, one month after the outbreak of war and quickly found himself among the bloody rocks and sand of Gallipoli.

He then fought at Cape Heller and Sulva Bay. By the age of 17 he was a veteran. Back in Gallipoli in 1915, he went through a typhoon after which he was blown up and received 18 wounds. Five months later he was back with the 2nd Regiment of the Royal Warwickshire Regiment taking part in the big push on the Somme.

At Ginchy he, with his captain and 25 other men, moved into German-held territory and held it against attack before reinforcements broke through on the morning of the fifth day.

In 1917 he fought at Arras, then Cambrai, where he was blown up by a gas shell and wounded. He quickly recovered and seven months later was gassed, then came home to recover before returning once again into the thick of it in France. He survived and returned home to Coventry a much wiser man.

My grandfather's story is but one of many thousands of tales which could be told of the men of Coventry and of Britain. 

Others were not so lucky , such as my great uncle Ruebin Vince who was blown up - also the fate of my other great uncle Andrew McGrory, who had never before been out of Long Itchington.

The Coventry Graphic during the war years contains page upon page of pictures of proud smiling faces of Coventry's lost SODS. Death became a regular feature and it reports in a rather matter of fact manner that:

" Among a number of local men who have recently fallen in action was Private A Martin. ..whose parents reside at 90 Harnall Lane East, Coventry. He was formerly employed by Singer Ltd, and was 20 years of age. His parents had not seen him for three years ...Private E F Henley, 6th Royal Warwickshire Regiment, was killed in action on April 1 ...resided at 32 New Street, Coventry, and leaves a widow and two children ..."

So it goes on and on and on, year after year, thousands of ordinary Coventry men, sons, brothers, uncles and fathers, many of whom had never left the city or its surrounding villages before. Some lie in foreign war cemeteries, others became part of the land they were fighting for.

During the war years Coventry turned to war production, with places like the Ordnance Works in Red Lane producing, among other things, naval guns. 

The army and navy spent over £40.5 million in Coventry on such things during the war.

The National Filling Factory in Holbrook Lane filled 19,940,000 bomb fuses, 31,060,000 detonators and 9,880,000 grenades. 

This factory, like others in the city, had to provide new accommodation for its thousands of new workers who were shipped into the city. These included Munition Cottages, Holbrook Lane, and much of the Red Lane estate.

The threat of warfare from the sky was real but did not materialise. In 1917 a Zeppelin skirted the city and the following year they once again passed over, this time dropping a bomb in the grounds of Whitley Abbey and on the Baginton Sewerage Farm. Fighters took off from Radford Aerodrome but failed to make contact with the raiders.

The Great War ended on November 11 1918. Nearly ten million lay dead. Those who survived gradually returned to their homes, many not able to deal with civilian life after living for years in the hell of the trenches. Many men could not find work and there were many reports of riots taking place throughout the land.

On July 19, 1919, Coventry celebrated with the Peace Procession and Gladys Mann rode as lady Godiva. This procession, one of the best for its excellent costumes, ended with rioting in Broadgate and the surrounding streets. 

Many reasons were given. One was that some businesses in Broadgate were German owned, another was that crowds were upset because Godiva rode fully dressed. 

It was, however, an event which was taking place nationally because of discontentment due to lack of employment etc. Those who fought in the war to end all wars were promised a home fit for heroes, a promise which never materialised.

Rising from the ashes 

In A brochure on Coventry produced in the mid-1950s we read these words: "Coventry most surely is a 'City of the Future'."

This reflects the belief in people that old Coventry had been practically destroyed in the blitz and a new city, like the phoenix, would rise out of the ashes of the old.

Coventry at that time had an ever-rising population, numbering some 268,000 souls. Many worked in the car industry, owned more cars than anywhere else in England and were on wages higher than the average. Coventry was a boom town.

To match this boom, the city council began work on the city's rebuilding, starting with the whole-sale demolition of unsafe and sate buildings which remained in their way.

In 1938 the council had appointed a young Donald Gibson as the city's first architect. Previously this job was filled by a city engineer, Ernest Ford –it was Ford who first suggested building a traffic-free precinct.

Before the war Gibson had already gathered a young team around him and was putting forward plans for demolition and rebuilding many of the central parts of the city.

The opportunity for rebuilding became a reality after the heavy air raids of the Second World War. Within a month of the November raid members of the city council were already discussing the rebuilding of the city centre.

In February 1941, Donald Gibson and Ernest Ford both put forward plans for the centre's rebuilding, Gibson's plan was accepted. His original plan was for a pedestrian only precinct on one level stretching down from Broadgate. Down its centre was a water feature, which was the suggestion of George Hodgkinson, ex-mayor and a member of the redevelopment committee.

By 1945 these plans had changed slightly. The water feature now didn't run the whole length of the precinct but was placed in the upper half. At the insistence of store owners, a road now bisected the area for the stores believed if cars couldn't stop outside their shops no one would shop there (they would later be proved wrong). This road is now Market/Smithford Way.

By 1939 Gibson had also designed Broadgate Island with Godiva and its associated buildings.

He also envisaged open parkland surrounding St Michael's and Holy Trinity, looked down upon by a new civic centre, library, municipal, offices and college buildings. He planned parkland on the north amid a cultural centre. All that survived of this plan was the Belgrade Theatre

The council slowly acquired most of the centre of Coventry, making itself one of the biggest

Land-owning councils in Europe. The first act of rebuilding was the laying of the Phoenix Stone in which was to become the Upper Precinct.

Gibson drove to the Lake District with his friend, the artist Trevor Tennant, and here they acquired a block of Cumberland granite, which they brought back. Together they designed the new emblem of Coventry's rebirth, the Phoenix Rising, and Tennant carved the design into the stone which was laid before a large crowd of people on 8 June 1946 by the mayor, Alderman George Briggs.

The precinct wasn't the first area to be rebuilt; this was Broadgate island. Temporary shops were opened in December 1947 and Broadgate itself was officially opened in May 1948 by the Queen, then the Princess Elizabeth.

The following year in October, Mrs Lewis, wife of the American ambassador to the Court of St James, unveiled the Godiva statue. The statue itself, called 'Self Sacrifice', cost £20,000 and was the work of Sir William Reid Dick.

Broadgate Island was planted with thousands of tulip bulbs, a present from the people of Holland.

The first building to be erected in Broadgate was Broadgate House, in May 1953. This was originally the Home & Fashion Store. The Hotel Leofric and the Upper Precinct followed. The design of the Upper Precinct was revised and was built on a two-tier system, an idea which Gibson had adapted from the 'Rows' of mediaeval Chester.

The Owen Owen building, designed by Helberg & Harris to follow the lines of the rest of Broadgate, was opened in October 1954, followed by the completion of the Upper Precinct in 1955.

Below the Upper Precinct Woolworth's ran the whole length of Market Way and was opened in 1953 along what was to be a road intersecting the development. On Gibson's departure, Arthur Ling took over the post as city architect. He began work on the Lower Precinct and convinced everyone that the road was a bad idea and it was dropped.

Ling designed the Lower Precinct taking into account the fact that the two-tier system in the Upper Precinct had failed due to people's dislike of climbing the stairs. So he designed the Lower Precinct with the upper level on the normal level and easy walking access into the lower level. He also decided that a tall building would be in order and finished the Lower Precinct with the tall block called Mercia House.

Ling also laid out Smithford Way and, to counteract the nightly ghost town effect, added the Locamo dance hall.

Coventry's traffic-free precinct was a first in Britain and many believed the concept was doomed to failure. Initially, before the completion of the whole shopping area, this prediction appeared to be true for many retailers suffered through lack of custom. .

As the work neared completion and the majority of shops were in place more and more people were attracted to the city and, as one jeweller put it three years later, business was going, 'like a bomb'.

By 1964 shops were being offered huge sums such as £25,000 for their leases. The nation watched as Coventry's precinct proved a success, and by 1965 many wished to follow Coventry's lead and a total of 800 traffic-free shopping schemes awaited planning permission - a trend which continues to this day.

Coventry was first, however. It also gave a name to a style of architecture as the precinct was built in 'Festival of Britain' style.

Coventry during the 1950s and early 1960s was a building yard, with pedestrian diversions everywhere around boarded-off construction sites. Cranes soared into the air, a familiar sight for many years. The city was the focus of the nation, which looked to it to make strides into the future.

The precinct was not the only grand scheme, as Coventry also sought to rebuild its cathedral, a building which has recently (1999) been voted one of the best loved buildings of the 20th century.

The rebuilding of Coventry's Cathedral was not only of national interest but also interested the world, for its rebirth was symbolic of the rebirth of the nation as a whole.

Within one year of the burning of St Michael's a commission met to look into plans to rebuild it. Many Coventrians wanted to restore the interior of the old Cathedral, but the commission asked Sir Giles Gilbert Scott to design a new Cathedral. 

His design involved the complete destruction of the old and a new building with central altar. The design was accepted by the Cathedral Council, but thankfully the Royal Fine Arts Commission rejected it.

In 1950 the Cathedral Council held an open competition and received 219 entries from all over the world. The winner was Basil Spence (later knighted for his work) who had visited

the ruins and had had a Vision of the new rising out of the old, a huge tapestry of Christ and saints cut into the glass.

Spence's initial plans were blasted as a monstrosity and he suffered for some time from press attacks and hundreds of letters attacking him. His work began to suffer as commissions began to dry up, bringing him to the verge of bankruptcy .

Coventry City Council objected to the building of the Cathedral, believing that the city should be concentrating its resources on rebuilding the public sector. The Minister of Works overthrew the council's objections.

In 1954 permission was given to Laing Construction to build the Cathedral and work began on June 8 on the huge undercroft, which during the rest of the construction would serve as a place of worship.

As the building began to rise the world was gripped with interest and Spence's reputation began to soar. Many of the most notable artists of the time were commissioned to produce work for the new building. The artist Graham Sutherland undertook to design the largest tapestry in the world, measuring 74ft 8in by 38ft and depicting Christ in glory, its full title being 'Christ in Glory in the Tetramorph’.

The beautiful Baptistry Window was designed by the artist John Piper and made by Patrick Reyntiens and is considered one of the finest pieces of 20th century glass in existence. The glass West Screen, is the largest of its type in the world. 

It was designed and engraved by John Hutton who cut each of its full-size figures of saints and angels with a small hand-held engraving disc. Hutton's ashes now lie at the base of his wonderful creation.

On the exterior, by the steps, stands Jacob Epstein's last great work ‘St Michael and the Devil.’

The new St Michael's cost £1,250,000 and was consecrated on 25th May 1962. Nearly 4,500 people attended the ceremony, including the Queen who signed the documents of consecration.

With all this building work the phoenix had definitely risen and Coventry became a mecca for tourists, not only to visit the new Cathedral but also to look at the precinct.

The '50s and '60s were really Coventry's heyday as an industrial city. The city had full employment and a thriving motorcar and aircraft industry , most of which has now disappeared along with other world-renowned firms.

Coventry's industrial base has disappeared being replaced mainly by office and commercial work. Other major changes to the city are the growth of Coventry and Warwick universities, making the city an important centre for education.

During the 1980s much of Broadgate was finally built over by Cathedral Lanes and the controversial 'Tent'. This was followed by the West Orchards complex, which contains the largest glass dome in Europe.

Leading up to the new millennium, Coventry continued to prosper, with new shops opening, new firms continue to relocate in the city and new schemes lie ahead.

Coventry has a long and fascinating history, one of the finest in the land. The city has suffered decline and rebirth, changing to adapt to the world surrounding it. Coventry is a survivor, the skill and adversity of its people cannot be destroyed.

Coventry strives, lives on, makes history and will continue to do so for the next thousand years.

A sporting explosion 

The late 18th and early 19th century saw an explosion in interest in sports, such as prize fighting and horse racing. Coventry, like the rest of the nation, was no exception, having a thriving following of 'Fistiana’.

This was despite the fact that these fights were illegal and had to be fought in obscure places such as commons and near county borders in case of raids from the local constabulary .

One of the earliest recorded prize fights in the area was in the 1820s when an 'encounter' took place near Golden Green Wood, Coundon, by the Tamworth Road between Townsend and Browning. The crowd which watched this combat was estimated at being some 8,000

strong (over half of the population of the city) and over 500 men on horseback. The fight lasted for three hours and 57 minutes and consisted of 122 rounds (122 knock-downs).

The match was declared a draw.

One of the city's early fighters was John 'Fatty' Adrian, a descendant of Richard Adrian, vicar of Walsgrave-on-Sowe and Stoke in the 17th century. Adrian was born in Gosford Street in 1806. In his younger days he acquired the nickname 'Fatty' not because of his size (he was 5ft 6l/2in and weighed around 10 stone) but because of his regular attempts at the local wakes at climbing the goose fat-greased pole to win a pig.

Fatty's first recorded fight was on June 23 1828 when he beat Malaban in 15 rounds at Marston Bridge, near Nuneaton. On March 7 1829 he was beaten by Nuneaton fighter Bob Randall, who won the purse of £50 in a well-attended fight near Kenilworth.

Eighteen thirty was Fatty's year, for in this year he became a Freeman of Coventry and more importantly to him, on October 19 he fought a rematch with Bob Randall and beat him in one hour and five minutes (34 rounds) at Kenilworth. This was no ordinary fight for the purse stood at £100 a side and the fight was a turning point in Fatty's life for with this prize money he acquired his own business, the Windmill Inn in Spon Street.

Inn ownership was the main aim of many prize fighters, including other Coventry fighters, namely Fatty's opponent Bob Randall, who owned the Woolpack Inn, and 'Paddy' Gill of the Lamp Tavern.

Despite being a pub landlord, the call of the prize-ring continued and in 1830 he fought his first match with Bill Betteridge. This took place in a field near the Engine public house at Longford, and was for £20 a side. Betteridge had a crooked arm but stood five inches taller and weighed over two stones more than Adrian.

The fight lasted for two and three quarter hours (103 rounds) before being stopped by two officers of the law. As the fight was stopped no-one won the purse, a re-match was in order.

The re-match took place in April 1831 at Fillongley. Fatty Adrian set up his tent behind the Manor House Inn. .The fight lasted for over two hours (85 rounds) and Adrian outmatched his larger opponent, but after a severe blow in the 57th round Adrian began to falter. Thereafter, he took a sustained beating until his seconds threw in the towel and Betteridge was declared the winner.

The following year, Adrian married, but the marriage was childless and ended in 1837 when his wife, Elizabeth, is recorded to have passed away at the Windmill Inn.

He remarried the following year at St John the Baptist church. His second wife, Ann, gave him five children.

After his last fight, Adrian decided he was past his best, having suffered much bodily abuse. He left the Windmill and moved to the Leopard Inn in Smithford Street, then on to the Pitts Head in Gosford Street. This particular inn was one of the main meeting places of those interested in Boxiana in the city and continued so even after Adrian left it.

John 'Fatty' Adrian died aged 50 at his home in Cook Street in December 1856. The cause of his death was of "injured ribs and bronchitis." The rib damage was no doubt the direct result of his profession, the result of either continual blows or bear hugs.

Another fighter was Coventry ribbon weaver George "Game 'un" Shilton who fought a notable match against Joe "the Butcher" Bostock of Nuneaton in a field at Fillongley in 1839. The fight, like many other local fights, was reported in the Coventry newspapers, although they were illegal. During this fight we are informed that despite being "battered" for 30 rounds, Shilton, "the Coventry champion, showed no signs of giving in."

It continues, informing us that in round 40 Joe Bostock feared a broken collarbone and wanted to throw in the towel, but the jeering made him change his mind. In round 91, after two hours and six minutes, "Joe threw Shilton a terrible cross-buttock. The Coventry man's heels went up in the air and he came down on his head. He appeared quite insensible. But he was revived by his seconds. And he returned to the scratch as brave as a lion, only to be knocked down like a nine-pin in the next three rounds."

During round ninety-nine, we are informed, "There were cries of 'foul' as Joe fell with his knee on Shilton's neck….Bostock rose ready to go on. But Shilton was incapable and was finally carried out insensible."

A more successful fighter was William 'Paddy' Gill, who was born in Dublin in 1819 and came to Coventry when he was six years old. He fought his first set-to on Radford Common in 1838, when he beat Bill Heap for £5 aside.

More serious money was on offer in 1842 when he fought Hubbard, but this was a draw and the pair met again at Caldecote where Gill defeated Hubbard in forty-seven rounds and took the purse of over £50. His next fight and win was at Tamworth which he won in only twenty-five minutes.

Gill's reputation began to spread and his fights began to take on a more national importance. On October 17 1843 he fought Norley of Manchester at North Fleet. The fight was hard and lasted nearly two hours over 69 rounds. Despite all his efforts, Gill lost. This loss set him back on the local circuit for smaller purses and Gill once again had win after win, making him a national challenger.

On Enshaw Common outside London in 1845, Gill met Young Reed of London, nicknamed 'The Invincible.' It is said that the Coventry contingent arrived at the venue two days before the fight and the local vicar tried his best to put a stop to the event.

Such events were still illegal but in the main local constabulary turned a blind eye to it as those who followed the prize-fighting ring numbered in their thousands and included people from all classes.

Gill won the match and walked away with a full purse. His purse got even fatter and after this win he was re-matched against Norley of Manchester for the huge sum of £250 a side. The fight lasted for four hours and seven minutes and Gill was declared the victor. Next followed a contest with Tom Maley of London for £200 a side and Gill once again took the purse.

His final fight took place near Woolwich against McNulty .Gill lost. After this fight he decided to call it a day and settled into married life, spending some of his cash on acquiring the Lamp Tavern in Market Street.

Some years later he was declared insane and became an inmate of Hatton Hospital near Warwick, where he died aged 50 on October 19 1869. William 'Paddy' Gill, Coventry's best prize-fighter, was buried in the London Road Cemetery, where his grave can still be seen.

He was still remembered locally in rhyme and song:

Come on all you brisk and lively blades,

And listen to my song,

Spare but a few minutes,

I will not detain you long;

While I relate the noble fight,

We bad upon the day,

When Paddy Gill gave Reed his fill

And showed him British play.

Beatings at Election time 

Modern day elections are quite sober affairs compared with those two-horse elections of the Whigs and Tories that took place in 18th and early 19th centuries, when candidates were in the habit of hiring thugs to assist them in winning through means fouler than fair.

Up until 1714 the polling booth was in the Gaol Hall and perhaps because of its locality no major riots took place. In that same year the booth was moved to Cross Cheaping.

It was said that on this occasion Sir Christopher Hales, who had run ten times for parliament (and succeeded six times), failed and finally through his vast expenses ruined himself financially. This first election held in the Cheaping saw a certain amount of violence as Sir Christopher's men tried to stop those of his opponents entering the booth.

In the election of 1742 between Samuel Greatheed of Guy's Cliff House and Robert Bird of Coventry 'great excitement' occurred when the overheated voters and their assistants ended up actually destroying the election booth. This was nothing compared to the 'Bludgeon Fight' of November 29th 1780.

During this election, which was fought and won by Messrs Holroyd and Yeo, the election lasted for fourteen days and during this time were a number of running street battles with cudgels and bludgeons between the opposing factions.

Seventeen eighty-four once again saw the destruction of the polling booth which was in fact a very large tent, divided in the middIe. This sort of behaviour continued and in 1820 thankfully we get a description of events from well-known writer and politician, William Cobbett.

Cobbett came to the city with great expectations. He had a reputation as a radical and Coventry had its fair share of such individuals. His opponents were Peter Moore, who had been in the election business since 1802, and Edward Ellice, a relative newcomer, this being his second year.

On the first day of the voting Cobbett was triumphant and it looked as if the election was in the bag. Things, however, didn't quite turn out as he expected - the ‘fighting' of the election was about to begin and Moore and Ellice brought out the heavies. 

Cobbett later describeswhat happened:

"I, that day, saw twenty of my voters actually torn away from the polling-place, and ripped up behind and stripped of their coats. This evening Ellice went out of the booth, in great anger. I, not suspecting any attempt against me personally, followed at a few paces distant, intending to go to the house of a Mr Grant, where my committee was, about forty yards from the booth.

I had to pass through the band of savages, and I was scarcely amongst them when they (at Ellice's instigation) began an endeavour to press me down. They were more than a thousand in number…..Several attempts were made to press me down; I got many blows in the sides; and if I had been either a short or weak man I must have een pressed under foot and inevitably killed.

However, the crowd took a sway towards a row of houses….with a great deal of difficulty I reached the pavement….I had, when I left the booth, my snuff-box in my right hand. It is oblong square and has very sharp corners, the savages pressed me sideways towards my left, and I bad to fight with my right band, in order to prevent them getting me down.

It cut the noses and eyes of the savages at a furious rate, and assisted mainly in my safe arrival on the raised pavement, on which I got just opposite the door of a shop, just at the same time as one of the savages, foaming at the mouth like a mad dog, exclaimed 'bang him; I'll rip him up. ,

He was running his band into his breeches pocket to take out a knife, but I being pulled up to the doorway by the left arm by two young women, who wished, I suppose, to get me into the house, drew up my right leg armed with a new and sharp edged gallashe over my boot, dealt Mr Ellice's ripping savage so delightful a blow just between the eyes that befell back on his followers.

For this, I certainly would have been killed in a few minutes had not Mr Frank Sergeant, who, seeing my danger….happily came to my assistance. Never did I behold a more gallant young man than this!

Having got to me he turned round, saying, 'Follow me sir, and having beaten back three or four savages so as to make them press upon others behind…..whilst he with thumps….kicks….set the body in a sway towards the house of Mr Grant, at which we arrived quickly in safety.”

Not surprisingly Cobbett did not run for parliament in Coventry again. The result of the actual election was Ellice, 1,474 votes; Moore, 1,442 and Cobbett, 517 votes. Ellice, the instigator of

Cobbett's troubles and winner of the elections, ran again in 1826.

This election was described by one source as, "a dreadful scene of rioting and drunkenness which was continued for twelve days, many voters having their coats torn from their backs." Mr Ellice and his 'Ellicites' lost by nearly three thousand votes.

With the passing of the Reform Bill in 1832 another election ensued and "in Coventry dreadful tumult ensued." The election took place on December 10 and became known locally as the "Bloody Tenth".

The day began apparently with much drinking of hot spiced ale and at 8am one party, using a large group of ruffians, blocked the booth to anyone voting for the opposing party.

This was soon counteracted by the opposing parties' ruffians who, with clubs and staves, cleared the polling area in such a violent manner that the casualties who were carried to the yard of the King's Head gave it the appearance of a hospital.

This was how the electoral process worked in l8th/l9th century Coventry. Things did, however, get better as the 19th century progressed and elections took on a more respectable air, with candidates proclaiming themselves from the balconies of the King's Head, Smithford Street, and the Craven Arms in the High Street.

City at the centre of time 

FOR those who enjoy a voyage of discovery into long-lost backwaters of Coventry, a new book dedicated to the city's watchmaking industry offers a fascinating insight.
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  Published by the Watch Museum Project, the stroll through time takes us into the city's          ancient suburb of Spon End and along lines of Victorian terraces in Chapelfields.

As well as visiting the historic sites where watches were made, the book recalls some unusual aspects of the city: the Black Swan Inn's yard in mediaeval Spon Street where an aeroplane was constructed to fly the English Channel; an old synagogue on Barras Lane hill; and Coventry's oldest family baker in Craven Street.

But the real aim of the trail is, of course, a pilgrimage back in time to the days when Coventry was the centre of watchmaking in Britain.

The walk starts outside the funeral parlour in Lower Holyhead Road where a wall plaque marks the site of Charles Errington's watch factory, once one of the country's largest. 

According to the guide its proprietor employed 500 men and women in a clean and spacious works with huge windows giving natural light to the long work benches.

The business was taken over in 1898 by a Londoner, Henry Williamson, and continued to thrive with large contracts from the Government. 

During the First World War the company made wrist watches for officers and pocket watches for other ranks. Those produced for the army had black dials with markings that shone in the dark.

But sadly the use of phosphorus in luminous paint by the firm's dial painters went unnoticed. Many of these employees developed cancer and other diseases of the mouth as they licked their brushes to fine point to apply the luminous paint.

In Spon Street we admire the impressive row of Georgian style buildings next to the Skydome. They were once the home and offices of the city's best-known watchmakers, Rotherhams.

At number 27 in the middle was the proprietor's family home, and behind was a sprawling collection of workshops that grew in a haphazard manner as business boomed. 

Charles Dickens was the firm's most famous customer. He was presented with a commemorative watch in 1858.

The aeroplane constructed in a yard behind the old Black Swan inn was the brainchild of two brothers, the Glovers, whose burning ambition was to fly across the English Channel and secure a £10,000 prize.

But before their flying machine was off the ground Louis Bleriot had already flown from Calais to Dover on July 25, 1909.

The trail takes us up Barras Lane hill to Norfolk Street where the outstanding Danish engineer, Bahne Bonniksen, invented a watch movement that allowed time pieces to be carried upright in the waistcoat pocket. 

He also made accurate speedometers, distance meters, and an automatic gas lighter for street lamps.

The old Coventry Synagogue, a small late Victorian building beyond the turn to Gloucester was consecrated in 1870, and reminds us of the small but thriving Jewish community that lived in the city. 

The guide recalls master watchmakers and jewel cutters, like Philip Cohen and Alfred Emmanuel Fridlander.

Born in 1840, Fridlander also had considerable commercial interests outside the watch making industry - he was a director of the Triumph Cycle Company and deputy chairman of the Leigh Mills Company.

Like many of his contemporaries he held positions of public office. He was a city councillor, magistrate and secretary of Coventry Fire Brigade.

Before passing through the Spon End arches into Chapelfields, the trail takes in one of Coventry's forgotten backwaters, Broomfield Place. 

It was here that Henry Westrap produced fine watches in the humble surroundings of number 5. At the side of the Broomfield Tavern is a passageway which takes us back to Spon End and the railway viaduct that collapsed in 1857. 

It caused the closure of the line between Coundon Road station and Coventry for three years.

It was the dreadfully poor living conditions in the overcrowded courts and workshops of Spon Street that sparked the development of Chapelfields as a new watchmaking district. 

As we head for Craven Street we pass the site of Smith and Sons balance works on the corner of Hearsall Lane and arrive at the corner of Craven Street.

There a beautifully preserved master's house and workshop is now occupied by Mickledore Printing and Matthew Lewis Displays. 

Thomas Hill made all classes of watches here varying in price from 33 shillings (£1.65) to £15 and when he died in 1875 he left an estate of £12,000, the business being valued at £4,000. 

Rowland Hill his son, continued to make fine watches from 1875 to 1896.

At number 10 Craven Street a succession of Players were enamel watch dial makers and painters, and the property remained in the same family until 1967.

Thomas Player, a Birmingham craftsman, bought number 11 and five neighbouring houses in 1849. Not only was he a fine enameller but also a gifted watercolour painter. One of his works is featured in the museum project book.

The trail continues through this unique watchmaker's quarter, with many beautifully made plaques marking points of interest.

Make a beeline for Coventry's oldest family baker, Pails and Son, at the top of Craven Street, for a steaming crusty loaf straight from the oven.

* The picure of Spon End was taken in 1929.

The story of the Blitz 

November 14, 1940 . . . the darkest hours in Coventry’s history. On this frosty moonlit evening a swarm of German bombers flew over the city with the intention of destroying the city’s factories.

The German code name for the air raid was Moonlight Sonata, and while British counter intelligence had devised a jamming system capable of disrupting the German direction-finding beams, on that particular evening it was broadcast on the wrong frequency.

At precisely 7.24pm, the first wave of 30 Heinkel 111 bombers, directed by radio beam, simultaneously opened their bomb doors on Coventry. Over the next 11 hours, almost 450 aircraft dropped 503 tons of high explosive and 30,000 incendiaries on the city, killing 554 people and injuring around 1,000 more.

One of the first buildings to be destroyed was the city’s flagship Owen Owen store. Both of Coventry’s main hotels and its market were also among the early losses. Incendiaries spread the fires everywhere, enveloping everything and by midnight the city was without electricity, gas and water.

In all, 75 retail shops were flattened along with 25 cafes and restaurants. Virtually the whole of Coventry’s city centre was razed to the ground, including Coventry Cathedral, the only British cathedral to be destroyed during the war.

Desperate efforts were made to save the 14th century architectural masterpiece with firefighters bravely throwing incendiary bombs off the roof with spades as they landed. But to no avail. High explosives had put the water mains out of action, and with no pressure in their hoses, firemen had to watch a minor roof fire take hold and destroy the cathedral.

Firefighters were brought in from as far away as London and Manchester to try to cope with the terrible destruction. Later, bomber crews reported that they could smell the city burning 6,000 feet above.

The following morning stunned Coventry people emerged from Anderson shelters to find their city and their homes destroyed.

Nearly 60,000 buildings were damaged or destroyed, including 42,904 of the city’s 75,000 houses destroyed or damaged.

Two days later the deeply shocked people were cheered by a visit from King George VI. News of the royal visit quickly spread and there were scenes of tremendous enthusiasm as the King tramped through streets deep in mud and rubble and climbed over piles of debris to get a first hand picture of the damage. He visited the wrecked shell of the Cathedral and was taken to see the work of feeding homeless families at St George’s Church Hall, Coundon.

Before the King left the city he told the Mayor, Alderman J A Moseley, ‘We have had it bad in London, but I have not seen anything worse than here in Coventry.’

The air raid had succeeded in hitting twenty-seven war production factories. It was estimated that seventy-five per cent of the city’s war output had been seriously damaged. Yet within five days production had restarted.

A mobile inoculation unit treated 20,000 citizens immediately after the raid and no epidemics broke out despite a wrecked sewage system.

808 civilian victims of the air raids in November 1940 and April 1941, are interred in a communal grave in London Road Cemetery. The graves have now been laid out as a Garden of Rest, with lawns, flower beds and trees, and a memorial has been erected giving the names of all the victims. The memorial and garden were dedicated on the 15th November 1952.

A pair of charred beams, lying criss-cross in the rubble of the cathedral, became the symbol of reconciliation when the cathedral’s stonemason, Jock Forbes, tied them into the shape of a cross.

The age of steam 

Coventry, for many centuries, was home to the weaving trade, from wool ‘tammy’ weavers of the 16th and 17th centuries to silk ribbon weavers in the 18th to 20th century.

The industry first became industrialised in the 18th century, but up to and through the 19th century it also employed many outworkers, people who worked from home on their own looms usually kept in a shed or top-shop.

In the early 19th century with the advancement of the steam engine it was soon found that looms could be steam-powered, doing away with the skill of the weaver.

This was unacceptable to the thousands of weavers in Coventry.

Those who wished to mechanise the art of the weaver often suffered at the hands of the weavers themselves whose livelihoods were threatened.

Many of the early steam-powered looms in England were violently destroyed by angry weavers This lawless behaviour forced Sir Robert Peel to enact a statute in 1827 which made the destruction of steam looms punishable by death.

Coventry’s first steam-powered looms came after this time with those built and operated by Josiah Beck who had a ‘factory’ in New Buildings, consisting of a three-storeyed house with a workshop above and among his own looms with his steam engine.

From the introduction of these looms local weavers saw Beck as target for their anger.

On ovember 7, 1831, 700 weavers gathered at the bottom of New Buldings by the Mill Dam to hear views on the state of the industry and the problems caused reduced wages and unemployment.

The crowd got more and more agitated as the future of the industry was being discussed. Soon the dreaded powered loom began to be attacked and Beck’s name came to the forefront.

An agitated mob, some 500 strong, broke away from the main group and headed up the hill to Beck’s factory.

The ringleaders hammered on Beck’s door and demanded he came out which he did.

He asked them what they wanted and he was told that the men wanted to see the steam looms.

Beck agreed to let one of their ringleaders, Joseph Day, in and as he stepped aside to let Day pass the mob rushed forward.

Beck was forced from his door, stoned with cal and bricks and beaten before he managed to climb his neighbour’s wall to escape the frenzied mob.

Beck was attacked again in the street, punched to the ground by John Deeming who, with his fellows, dragged Beck back to his house and insisted that he let them into the engine room or they would kill him.

Benjamin Sparkes led the attack on the steam engine and began to smash it with a sledgehammer. Meanwhile Beck was once again assaulted by William Westwick (whom he had known for 18 years) and other men.

Cries of ‘Duck him’ were called and Beck again made his escape and found a hiding place but was once again pursued, this time into Mr Moy’s timber yard from where he saw his factory on fire.

Meanwhile, back to the factory, the mob were in the process of smashing the looms, machinery and anything else they could lay their hands on.

Beck himself was once again taken by part of the mob and led down to Mill Dam by Thomas Burbury who protected him when one man struck him.

Witnesses said that Beck was on his knees, begging in fear for his life. He appears to have been saved by the intervention of Burbury, who talked the mob out of their final act of vengeance.

The riot was finally brought to an end when the Riot Act was read and the 14th Light Dragoons and 7th Hussars took control of the streets.

Beck’s factory lay in ruins, burned to the ground.

A small group was arrested and later put on trial. Benjamin Sparkes, aged 20, and Thomas Burbury, aged 29, were found guilty. The judge placed the black cap on his head and sentenced them to death.

Their death sentence was later commuted to transportation for life.

Thomas Burbury, the man who smashed Beck’s looms and called for them to be fired and then later appeared to protect Beck, became a shepherd at Ansty Barton, Van Dieman’s land.

The youngest, Alfred Toogood, apparently became a respectable and fairly wealthy gentleman.

Josiah Becks was ruined and never again prospered. He lived his last years as a poor inmate at Bond’s Hospital.

Second plan for Coventry 

ONE of the most significant turns in Coventry’s long history came about just 49 years ago at one of the longest council meetings ever.

It was December 21, 1951, and the comprehensive development plan drawn up by architect Donald Gibson had been tabled for approval. The opposition were concerned for the well-being of business and commerce in the city, and made a plea for more time to consider the radical proposals.

The request went unheeded - and the the mould was set for generations to come.

As the redevelopment progressed everything in its path was swept aside - shops, local industry, public houses and whole neighbourhoods.

In its place grew a new city focused on the Cathedral church of St Michael with shops, offices, civic buildings, police and law courts encircled by a bypass road.

The new Coventry was described by one eminent planner as correct, seemly, but dull. Its pedestrian precincts were “anaemic”, he said.

Now, a study by Loughborough University experts is looking at the post-war planning of British cities, and focuses on Coventry as a textbook example of 1950s development.

The university wants to record the memories and reminiscences of people who lived through those years.

Phil Hubbard, who lectures in human geography at Loughborough said: “Gibson’s plan is cited as exemplifying many of the core characteristics of modern planning - segregation, order, hygiene and efficiency.

“It’s also recorded that there was much enthusiasm for his plan, and that it was only later that disillusionment set in. Was this the case, or were some citizens unhappy with the plans from the start?”

So how did this mighty plan for a new Coventry become a reality?

Gibson was appointed Coventry’s first municipal architect in 1939 at the age of 29, and immediately set about designing a new city. In his book it was rebuilt long before the bombs rained down one November night in 1940.

His desire to rebuild the entire centre with pedestrian precincts was unpopular from the outset. It was thought that it would destroy patterns of social and business life, and quickly made enemies in the Council House. It was ridiculed and shelved - until the Luftwaffe’s bombs brought the plan out of mothballs.

Gibson’s vision divided Coventry into neatly defined sectors, with wide pedestrian precincts effectively creating a “car-less city centre”.

That wasn’t entirely true, of course. In May 1948 Princess Elizabeth had opened the new Broadgate Garden Island, a bustling hub for many decades to come.

The formal adoption that day in 1950 of Gibson’s vision was the beginning of a controversy that has rumbled on ever since. Referring to the plan, one opposing councillor said: “It is overshadowed by its all-embracing and narrow-minded purpose. For whatever blessing this scheme may wish to bestow, whatever benefits could possibly accrue, one object stands in the forefront - the complete abolition of the private land owner, the private shop owner, and the private house owner.”

But moving approval of the plan, Cllr Rogers, chairman of the planning and redevelopment committee, said: “In order to achieve all this it was necessary to sort out the mixture of uses which had grown haphazardly in the past.”

A flurry of development followed, and the King and Queen came in the spring of 1951 to see for themselves the progress around the new Broadgate.

Two years on, work was being completed in that area and was well underway to build the Upper Precinct.

Nevertheless, in March 1953 a public enquiry into other parts of Coventry’s development plan was still rumbling on. Many critics of the scheme were asking: “Who is winning - the City Council, who have sponsored the plan and who wish to impress the Minister of Housing and Local Government with the soundness of their ideas, or the 500-odd objectors?”

By 1954 the Upper Precinct was nearing completion, and Alderman George Hodgkinson, the new chairman of the planning committee was

calling for a speed-up of compulsory purchase procedure and an early declaration of the public enquiry.

Of course Coventry folk were pleased to have a new shopping centre. They would be after the years of war dereliction. But soon many were asking -did the planners forget the people?

A former vicar of Holy Trinity, Laurence Jackson, contrasting the redevelopment with his former home in Leicester, said: “Here in Coventry there is too much sameness - everything is monochrome.”

Patrick Flinn, proprietor of an old Coventry firm of jewellers, said: “There is no shape or form of interest in the Precinct buildings.

“The sameness might have been avoided if within general control, people had been allowed to put up the buildings they wanted, instead of everything rigidly conforming to an overall architectural plan.

“I am convinced that architects and planners plan for themselves, and not the people who live in and use the buildings. It becomes more important than the people.”

In the following decades many other misgivings have surfaced about the amount of space given over to shops at the expense of other facilities.

The longest running plea has probably been for a central concert hall.

Council critics have pointed out that several venues with potential have gone begging: Drapers’ Hall became a make-shift court room; the Masonic Hall in Little Park Street was demolished for redevelopment; the Locarno ballroom became a library, and the Police Ballroom was converted into offices.

Now, of course, the controversy goes on - with the proposed demolition of the old Hippodrome to make way for the Phoenix Initiative. Many Coventrians will feel they’ve been here before.

Thrust SSC

A DEEP sense of pride and achievement will surge through Coventry when Thrust SSC, the fastest car [image: image3.jpg]


in the world, arrives in the heart of the city.

The city's Museum of British Road Transport won a huge battle to become its new keeper, and appropriately the car will soon be showcased on Millennium Square.

Richard Noble, who was obsessed with speed since he was a youngster and became the fastest man on earth in 1983, always believed the super-sonic land speed record was achievable. But knowing something can be done and going out and doing it are very different matters.

In the project's early stages he and his team hoped to catch a major sponsor to fund a big portion of the costs but sadly that didn't happen. Instead, Coventry with its long history of engineering skills, kept the world record-breaking bid on

"We were building the car down at G Force in Fontwell at that stage," recalled Noble. "Things were moving on with the big space-frame well underway, but we had no money and few resources. From time to time the guys at G Force were asking 'Where is the suspension coming from? Do we have any wheels yet?'

"As you can imagine I was having absolute nightmares trying to finance this thing. Every penny counted and there was certainly no money to commit to making expensive heavy bits like the machinery.

"But thanks to an initiative by Glynne Bowsher, a member of the design team who'd worked on Thrust 2, Coventry University and the City Council started taking an interest.

"This resulted in my briefing and presentation night at the Museum of British Road Transport when 15 local engineering firms turned up.

"I stood up there and explained how we needed help and support. A rough list of what needed to be done was issued, but we had no idea how these engineers were going to respond."

As it happened a cool-headed businesswoman who promotes Coventry worldwide as a centre of engineering excellence realised the potential for links with the supersonic car. Kelsey Hanson, formerly manufacturing investment officer at the council's Coventry Centre for Investment, believed that nothing would sell the city better than the story of Thrust SSC.

Through her dedication a deal was put together, recalled Noble.

"In the end a group of 19 manufacturers became committed to the project through Kelsey's enthusiasm for SSC. Coventry University acted as project manager overseeing the production of the components.

"It was very much Kelsey Hanson's drive to get this done. She talked to all these companies persuading them to be part of it, and kept the impetus going. They responded really well and, of course, three months later I was able to drive a Transit van south to Fontwell filled with about a ton of machined components, something like £100,000 worth of suspension parts.

"Coventry was crucial to the success of the project and it required a huge effort by the city to get this together. It was an absolutely brilliant response."

Another brave and far-sighted initiative shown by the city enabled the solid aluminium wheels, a masterpiece of design, to become a reality.

Glynne Bowsher's wheels had to rotate faster than anything of its type built before, an incredible 8,200 rpm. There was no better firm to approach than Dunlop's Aviation Division.

"Glynne and I went up to Coventry to see whether Dunlop could help with Thrust SSC's wheels and brakes," said Noble.

"We knew the industry was only just coming out of depression, and what the firm's managing director, John Whelan, had to say at first was pretty depressing.

"But then he surprised us both by saying 'Now we want to do something we can all be proud of.'

"The programme he took on was huge, because the eventual cost to the firm was about £200,000."

Dunlop engineers built four tyreless, solid aluminium wheels which carried the supersonic car to victory.

The company also supplied the carbon brakes that brought the 10-tonne car to a halt.

It was an amazing tribute to the company's skills that Thrust SSC completed all of its world land speed record runs on the same set of brake pads.

"One of the great things about Coventry is its car industry and fine engineering," said Noble.

"The city's workforce really under-stands what we went through and what the team finally achieved as Thrust SSC became the fastest car on earth.

"What a fitting reward for the great support as the supersonic car finds a new home in Coventry's Museum of British Road Transport."
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